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® (1535)
[English]

The Chair (Mr. Ali Ehsassi (Willowdale, Lib.)): I call the
meeting to order.

Welcome to meeting number 36 of the Standing Committee on
Foreign Affairs and International Development.

Today’s meeting is taking place in a hybrid format, pursuant to
the House order of June 23, 2022. Members are attending in person
in the room and also, as you will note, remotely by using the Zoom
application.

I would like to make a few comments for the benefit of the wit-
ness and members as well.

Please wait until I recognize you by name before speaking. For
those participating by video conference, click on the microphone
icon to activate your mike and please mute yourself when you are
not speaking.

Interpretation for those on Zoom is at the bottom of your screen,
and you have a choice of either floor, English or French. Those in
the room can use the earpiece and select the desired channel. I'll re-
mind you that all comments should be addressed through the chair.

In accordance with our routine motion, I am informing the com-
mittee that all witnesses have completed the required connection
tests in advance of the meeting today.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motions adopted by
the committee on Friday, July 15, 2022, and on Wednesday,
September 21, 2022, the committee is resuming its study of the ex-
port of Russian Gazprom turbines.

It is now my pleasure to welcome, from the Canadian Gas Asso-
ciation, Timothy M. Egan, president and chief executive officer.

Mr. Egan, you will be provided five minutes for your remarks,
after which we will invite the members to ask you questions. When
you're 30 seconds away from your five minutes, I will raise this as
a heads-up so that you're fully aware of that.

The same applies when members are asking you questions.
There's a certain allotted time. When you're getting very close to it,
I will raise this and then kindly try your best to wind things down
with your response.

Mr. Egan, the floor is yours for five minutes.

[Translation]

Mr. Timothy Egan (President and Chief Executive Officer,
Canadian Gas Association): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good afternoon, everyone.

My name is Timothy Egan and I'm president and CEO of the
Canadian Gas Association. I'm going to speak quickly today for
five minutes.

[English]

CGA is the voice of Canada's natural gas delivery industry, and
our members are responsible for nearly 40% of our country's ener-
gy needs, which is almost twice that of the electricity industry. We
serve eight provinces and one territory. Since before Confederation,
Canadians have been using gas energy; over 20 million benefit
from it today, and still more want it.

Canada is home to world-class companies in natural gas produc-
tion, transmission and distribution, and ours is some of the lowest
emission gas energy in the world. Gas is the largest single contribu-
tor to our residential, commercial and industrial energy needs in the
country.

Ask users, and they will tell you a key reason. It's because they
feel secure with our service. The affordability of our offering, the
reliability of our delivery and the environmental performance of
our sector all contribute to this sense of security.

What's more, we're working constantly to serve changing energy
needs. Many are calling for energy with lower GHG emissions, and
our member companies have been meeting the demand with new,
innovative end-use technologies, new emission management sys-
tems or new fuels like hydrogen and renewable natural gas. The
scale of these efforts is worth noting, Mr. Chair. In British
Columbia alone, the RNG, or renewable natural gas, currently be-
ing produced is equal to the energy potential of the Site C dam,
which is a 1,000-megawatt hydroelectric project, but all that RNG
in British Columbia is being delivered over existing utility infras-
tructure without the need for new infrastructure.

Now, your hearings are on the international situation, and our fo-
cus at CGA is domestic, but the two are related. The well-being of
our country turns on the security of gas energy delivery, so we un-
derstand the energy security threat that Europe is currently facing.
We've been very active in the discussion on it and on Canada's po-
tential role in supporting our allies.
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Russia's invasion of Ukraine has fundamentally changed natural
gas energy geopolitics. Russia was meeting roughly 40% of Eu-
rope's gas needs, and that supply is of a scale comparable to what
Canada produces annually. In other words, a doubling of Canadian
production would be required if Canada were to replace Europe's
Russian supply. This would be an extraordinary feat, but it is tech-
nically possible. We have hundreds of years of supply, some of the
best infrastructure in the world and the expertise to expand that in-
frastructure.

Europeans know this, and their diplomatic missions have been
meeting with Canadian industry on it. CGA has met with a majority
of EU members' missions here in Ottawa and with the EU's diplo-
matic office itself.

Canadian producers have been flowing more natural gas to U.S.
markets, which is then liquefied and sent to Europe. This amount
could increase in the near term, but system capacity constraints
pose barriers to it rising significantly without major infrastructure
expansions.

However, it is in the medium and the long term that Canada
could help much more, and Europe wants that help. While we're
modest LNG exporters now, we are set to change that with the
LNG Canada project, which will produce 13 million tonnes per an-
num in its first two trains, and the site is designed to allow the addi-
tion of two more.

What more should we do?

First, Canadian industry should work with government to map
out a strategy to move more energy offshore. Canadian companies
are standing by prepared to discuss the opportunity, and we know
that government has been in touch with various players to date.

Second, we need clear signals that government is prepared to
support more gas energy exports. We note that Minister Freeland
has been forthright on the topic, and we draw members' attention to
her remarks at the Brookings Institution in October in Washington,
where she said, and I quote:

The EU set a powerful example during the COVID pandemic when European
vaccine makers honored their contracts with non-European allies. Canada re-
members. Canada must and will show similar generosity in fast-tracking, for ex-

ample, the energy and mining projects our allies need to heat their homes and
manufacture electric vehicles.

She also said:

And crucially, we must then be prepared to spend some domestic political capi-
tal in the name of economic security for our democratic partners.

We need specific action, and this is my third request. Minister
Freeland, in her call for fast-tracking, is absolutely correct. We need
to streamline our regulatory framework to enable rapid project de-
velopment and to foster investment confidence that we're serious
about delivering.

With a low-emission product, unrivalled expertise in moving it to
customers and some of the highest standards of corporate and envi-
ronmental performance, Canada should be working to ensure that
the companies in our industry from wellhead to burner tip are help-
ing the world. If we do this, we'll have the credibility to lead the
global conversation on opportunities like RNG, hydrogen and other
fuels and technologies as they emerge.

As a final note, Canada will be hosting two important interna-
tional conferences over the next two years: the international LNG
conference in Vancouver next July and the international gas re-
search conference in May 2024 in Banff. These events present plat-
forms for Canada to showcase our leadership. The fact that we are
hosting them points to the reality that Canada has a significant role
to play in a dramatically shifting and unstable global energy mar-
ketplace.

Canada's gas industry has brought and continues to bring energy
security to our country, and we can and should help bring it to our
allies and the world at large. The German Chancellor said it best
when I spoke to him when he was here in August. He told me, “Mr.
Egan, we need your gas.”

Let's work to find ways to address that need.
® (1540)
Thank you kindly for allowing me to appear before you today.

® (1545)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Egan.

We will open it up to questions from the members.

Our first member is MP Chong.

Hon. Michael Chong (Wellington—Halton Hills, CPC):
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Mr. Egan, for coming to our committee.

Can you elaborate on what Chancellor Scholz said to you when
you met with him last August when he came to Canada?

Mr. Timothy Egan: Yes. This was during the Chancellor's visit
in August, and this was at a meeting he had with industry and pub-
lic sector representatives in Toronto. He and the Prime Minister
were both in attendance. They both made some remarks, and then
there was a break afterwards, and I had a chance in the break to talk
to the Chancellor.

It's not very often you get a chance to buttonhole a G7 leader, so
I took advantage of the opportunity to do so. I thanked him for his
remarks and I noted that his remarks were particularly friendly to-
wards Canadian gas, and he said these are sensitive subjects. Then
straight up he said, “Mr. Egan, we need your gas”, and I said,
“Chancellor Scholz, I encourage you to say that as much as you can
publicly.” I wasn't even going to repeat that he had said it, except
he then said it on CBC news, so I felt it was fair for me to make
reference to the remarks.
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I think the Chancellor and his representatives here in Germany
have been forthright, as have many of their European colleagues,
and again, we've met with a majority of them. We've met with.... I
can provide the committee with a list if you're interested. The Euro-
peans have been amazed to learn the gas story in Canada, because
frankly, even though we know it well, it's not advertised that well,
and they've been quite overwhelmed by it. Their response is, “All
right; what do we do to build a relationship?”

Hon. Michael Chong: Thank you for that information. I think
it's clear that Chancellor Scholz came away empty-handed. He
didn't get the gas he was looking for. Subsequent to his visit to
Canada, Germany signed contracts to get gas from Qatar, which is
unfortunate for Canada.

During the visit, Mr. Trudeau said that there has never been a
strong business case for natural gas projects in eastern Canada. You
said, however, that there is an incredible business case if the regula-
tory framework is clear. Who's right about the business case?

Mr. Timothy Egan: I don't remember the precise words the
Prime Minister used, but insofar as we need a good business case,
he's correct: We do need a good business case for any gas project in
the country.

My point is that the business case is determined by a variety of
factors, one of which is the regulatory framework, so I pick up on
the Deputy Prime Minister's remarks about fast-tracking it, because
if you can create a tighter regulatory framework, investors are go-
ing to be much more interested in the opportunity to invest in
projects here in Canada and develop projects in Canada.

Hon. Michael Chong: In the Deputy Prime Minister's speech at
the Brookings Institution on October 11, I believe it was, she indi-
cated that Canada wanted to fast-track energy projects to heat peo-
ple's homes, which I interpreted that to mean natural gas projects.
Have you seen any changes from the government in terms of expe-
diting projects for the export of LNG? Have there been any discus-
sions with the government about this, or was this simply stopped at
that speech she gave in Washington on October 11?

Mr. Timothy Egan: There have certainly been discussions. I
know that many of my member companies and others in the indus-
try have been in conversation with various government representa-
tives, and I think it's fair to say that the government has moved sig-
nificantly from its positioning early in the calendar year to how it
talks about LNG projects now.

I think early in the year the government itself was not convinced
of the opportunity, and I think they're much more convinced now. I
think in addition to Minister Freeland, Minister Wilkinson has been
making positive statements, as has Minister Champagne.

Hon. Michael Chong: I agree with you. I think there's been a
180-degree turn by the government on LNG projects. I think
they've realized their mistake and at least they're talking the talk
about exporting LNG for our allies in Europe.

Just after the war began on February 24, with Russia invading
Ukraine for a second time, Germany announced about a week or so
later the construction of two new LNG terminals on the Baltic Sea,
and they have since expanded that to five new projects on the Baltic
Sea. Some of those projects are expected to be fully operational this

winter; in other words, they were able to go from zero to 100—to
completion—in less than 12 months. Why can't we do that?

Mr. Timothy Egan: I think Germany has, like Canada, an ex-
ceptional environmental regulatory framework. I think in the face
of what is really an incredible crisis in Germany, they've looked at
that framework and they've said we have to speed it up dramatical-
ly. Canada needs to do the same thing.

® (1550)

Hon. Michael Chong: I know we are the fifth-largest natural gas
producers in the world. We sit on some of the largest reserves of
natural gas in the world. We have the engineering expertise. We
have the private sector capital. We have the private sector compa-
nies like Enbridge and TransCanada PipeLines and other major en-
ergy companies based in Canada. It's just astounding to me that in
an emergency context, when the very security and defence of the
NATO alliance is at risk because of Russia's brutal attack on
Ukraine, we as a country aren't able to do what other allies, such as
Germany, have done and expedite the construction of these plants
that are so necessary to displace Russian gas in Europe and cut off
the funding for Putin's war machine.

Maybe you could comment on why there doesn't seem to be a
sense of urgency here on the part of the government to get these
projects done.

Mr. Timothy Egan: I think it's incumbent upon us in the indus-
try to make clear just how significant the opportunity is for Canada.
I think we have all been somewhat complacent, because—Ilet's face
it—energy is abundant and very affordable in this country, and we
are suddenly seeing the shock involved for societies when prices
rise dramatically and supplies are constrained. I think it's changing
the conversation in Canada, and I just hope it changes it more
quickly.

Hon. Michael Chong: I have no further questions, Mr. Chair.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Chong.

We now go to Ms. Bendayan. You have six minutes, Ms. Ben-
dayan.

[Translation]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan (Outremont,
Mr. Chair.

Lib.): Thank you,

Mr. Egan, thank you for being here.

I understand your point of view and I appreciate it. It's your job
to advocate for fossil fuel extraction. I want to make it clear that the
Standing Committee on Natural Resources has already conducted a
comprehensive study on this issue.

I'd like to ask you a few questions about the importance of our
climate change and environmental commitments.
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It will come as no surprise to you that, since I'm a Quebec MP,
our commitments to reach net-zero emissions by 2050 are very im-
portant to me, as well as the Quebeckers I represent. In fact,
Canada now has legislation on the matter, the Canadian Net-Zero
Emissions Accountability Act.

As you said in your opening remarks, our European allies are in
a critical situation right now when it comes to energy in general,
and natural gas in particular.

I'd like to know if Canada's commitments and the Canadian Net—
Zero Emissions Accountability Act are compatible with what
you're proposing, which is to increase Canadian natural gas and lig-
uefied natural gas production.

Mr. Timothy Egan: I believe they're compatible.
[English]

First off, I should clarify that actually our association is not fo-
cused on the extraction of fuels but on the delivery of fuels, so our
member companies are delivering gas energy right across the coun-
try. Overwhelmingly right now it's natural gas, but increasingly it's
RNG, as it is increasingly in Quebec. Hydrogen, of course, is also
an emerging opportunity.

The fundamental point here about what we do is that delivering
gas energy has an enormous economic benefit and an enormous se-
curity benefit, and it's a benefit that the Europeans recognize.

To your specific point about how you reconcile a country like
Canada, which is a natural resource-producing and resource-export-
ing country, increasing its exports in the face of targets we've set, |
think the government has created an enormous challenge for itself
with its emissions cap. | would say, however, that when you look at
the performance record of Canadian companies across the value
chain and you compare them to those of our global allies, we per-
form extraordinarily well. Our standards are as good as or better
than virtually everyone else's in the world. If you think of Europe
receiving resources from a place like Russia, where the standards
are much lower and emissions are much higher, and you reflect on
it in a global context, then you see that Canada could be contribut-
ing to lowering global emissions in a profound way. Are we making
the perfect the enemy of the good by setting standards internally
that prevent us from delivering much better benefits to the globe at
large?

® (1555)
[Translation]
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you for the response.
You've brought up the possibility of exporting gas several times.

Do you think it's realistic to export gas from the east coast of
Canada?

[English]

Mr. Timothy Egan: That comes back to the Prime Minister's
question about a business case.

I think every project deserves to be evaluated on its merits. The
biggest advantage of east coast gas exports is that the transport dis-
tance is dramatically less. The biggest disadvantage is that you
don't have the same supplies readily available and you don't have

the same infrastructure in place. You have to create a combination
of factors for the business case in each application.

My view is to create a rules framework that indicates that we're
supportive of exports and then let business projects come forward
and evaluate them on their merits.

[Translation]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Because you're in the industry, you
come to us fully aware of the business case for doing what you're
here to propose.

Is the infrastructure ready or almost ready? How much are we
talking about in terms of investment, public or private?

[English]

Mr. Timothy Egan: I don't know the business cases on a case-
by-case basis.

What's fascinating about this—and you can see this in the U.S. in
particular—is that new project proposals are coming forward all of
the time. Why are they coming forward? They're coming forward
because entrepreneurs see a new technology that they combine with
this piece of infrastructure over here and this over here and they can
create a new project opportunity.

[Translation]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: How long would it take to carry out
those projects?

[English]

Mr. Timothy Egan: That would depend on the regulatory frame-
work. If you expedite that regulatory framework, to the point made
earlier by another member, it's significantly less time.

I can't give you months or years, but I will say that right now it's
taking years and years. The world needs it in a shorter period of
time.

[Translation]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Besides the regulatory framework that
we require, how long will it take for the industry to be able to ex-
port, for us to have the infrastructure to move the material, as you
say?

[English]

Mr. Timothy Egan: You would have to talk to a project propo-
nent. If you want to give me a specific project, I'm happy to go
away, talk to the proponents and try to give you a sense of timing,
but I haven't the means to tell you that there are a dozen projects
and this one will take 12 months and this one will take 24.

I can tell you that with certain conditions in place, you will have
much more interest in project development.



November 14, 2022

FAAE-36 5

[Translation]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Is it possible to do this immediately, to
answer the call from our European allies?

[English]

Mr. Timothy Egan: Immediately?
[Translation]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I mean in the near term.
[English]

Mr. Timothy Egan: As I said in my remarks, I think that in the
near term there's very little we can do. From speaking with our Eu-
ropean allies, I know there's an immediate need for the 2023 winter.
Then there's the 2024 winter. Then there are the several winters af-
ter that. They're very concerned about that. In conversations I've
had with the Europeans, they've said they'd love it if we could do a
lot for next winter, but they're thinking about fundamentally chang-

ing a long-term relationship and they want Canada to be part of the
future.

[Translation]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I believe my time is up.

Thank you very much, Mr. Egan.

Mr. Timothy Egan: Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Bendayan.

We now go to Mr. Bergeron. You have six minutes, sir.
[Translation]

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron (Montarville, BQ): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Mr. Egan, thank you for being with us this afternoon.

As I listen to you speak, I can't help but bring up UN secretary-
general Antonio Guterres, who in August called the record profits
by the oil and gas industry immoral in the middle of a global ener-
gy crisis. Earlier this year, in April, he had already said that invest-
ing in new fossil fuel infrastructure was moral and economic folly.

We learned recently that among the G20 countries, Canada is the
second highest public funder of fossil fuel projects. Each year from
2019 to 2021, Canada invested up to US$8.5 billion in fossil fuel
projects.

Given the current situation and considering the comments by the
secretary-general of the United Nations, who describes the race to
develop fossil fuels as madness and immoral, how do we reconcile
what you're saying here this afternoon with these warnings from the
UN secretary-general?

® (1600)
[English]

Mr. Timothy Egan: I've just come back from International Gas
Union meetings in Peru. I represent Canada in the global associa-
tion for the industry. At those meetings, there were representatives

from several South American countries, including Colombia, Chile,
Peru and others. Overwhelmingly, the comment they made about

natural gas development was that the single most effective way to
reduce poverty in the developing world is to develop fossil fuel re-
sources, like natural gas, to make affordable energy available to
those who don't have it. That dramatically improves the lives of
millions around the world, and it has dramatically improved the
lives of millions in places like our country and Europe.

At that meeting, there was a representative from the Canadian
first nations community who spoke about the opportunity that natu-
ral gas development represents to addressing economic reconcilia-
tion in Canada.

To your specific point about the profits of companies, companies
are making profits as commodities rise in price. That's always the
case. That's what happens in markets. I would also note that every
government in this country benefits from those hard commodity
prices in the generation of extraordinary tax revenues that under-
write a host of public services.

On balance, I think the economic opportunity offered by the ex-
istence of those companies and their success is great for all in-
volved.

[Translation]

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron: I believe that we should understand the
UN secretary-general's comments to mean: Profits are great, work
is great; but in practice, if that eventually leads to the end of life
itself, is it really worth it? I feel that's why he was talking about
madness and immorality.

You're talking about people who have jobs because of the fossil
fuel industry. I'll give you that. However, these days, when it seems
like fossil fuels are on the way out, you have to recognize that the
companies in this industry are making huge profits. At Imperial Oil
Limited, we're talking about a net profit of about $1 billion in the
first quarter of the year, almost triple the profits reported in the
same period last year and one of its highest quarterly profits figure
in 30 years.

Again, how can we reconcile this race to rake in profits by the
fossil fuel companies with what the UN secretary-general said in
August, that this race to make record profits in the middle of an en-
ergy crisis is just plain immoral?
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[English]

Mr. Timothy Egan: Again, the profit of any company and any
sector delivers benefits across society. If you take issue with the
idea of profitable economic sectors, I think there may be more fun-
damental issues with the functioning of an open market system, be-
cause that's what a market system does. It delivers and distributes
enormous benefits across the board. You can find exceptions where
those profits are particularly high at a particular time. Again, invari-
ably, the return in the tax-based revenue—the royalties and so on—
is extraordinary.

On the point about the morality of the question, I would point to
the fact that over the course of the 20th century, the human condi-
tion has improved dramatically, and the numbers of deaths and
tragic incidents as a consequence of natural disasters and other dis-
asters have dropped dramatically. The quality of human life has in-
creased dramatically. I think that's a direct consequence of our abil-
ity to deliver affordable energy to people around the world.

In doing so, I would say to the Secretary General—as I know his
staff do—that there are enormous benefits that come from this sec-
tor. They are benefits that have enabled us to do many of the things
that the United Nations is doing around the world.

[Translation]

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron: Mr. Egan, a few days ago this commit-
tee looked into the record flooding in Pakistan these past few
months, which is a direct result of climate change.

You know that these changes are being caused by rising green-
house gas emissions. In Canada, we know that many of those emis-
sions are a direct result of developing and burning fossil fuels.

We're in the midst of an unprecedented energy crisis and infla-
tion is running rampant around the world. Does it seem right to you
that companies in the fossil fuel sector are making record profits? I
find it somewhat improper in the current context.

® (1605)
[English]

The Chair: Mr. Egan, could you reply in less than 15 seconds,
please?

Mr. Timothy Egan: Well, sure. What [ would say is that we can
point to any global crisis and we can identify the horrors that it rep-
resents for the human condition. We can say, “What do we do to ad-
dress those horrors?”” Those societies that are best able to address
those horrors are those societies that have the infrastructure and the
means to reduce the kind of human suffering you're referencing.
The societies that can do that are the societies that have built that
robust infrastructure. When we do that, we can make a dramatic
improvement in the human condition.

The Chair: Thank you.

We now go to Ms. McPherson. You have six minutes.
Ms. Heather McPherson (Edmonton Strathcona, NDP):
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you very much for your testimony and for answering our
questions and providing your perceptions on these things.

There's just one thing I want to clarify. When we talk about bene-
fiting people in the global south, I think we all have to acknowl-
edge that historically speaking, resource extraction has not benefit-
ed people in the global south. It has, in fact, been the opposite case.

That's not really what I want to ask a question on. I want to ask
you a bit of a question on some of your experiences with the Chan-
cellor and with our supplying of energy to Germany, because of
course, on February 24, the world changed. None of us were ready
for what ensued. Certainly the weaponization of energy by
Vladimir Putin and his illegal war on Ukraine have had deep im-
pacts around the world.

You said that Chancellor Scholz had said, “We need your gas.” I
was in Germany last week. I actually met with the Chancellor. I met
with Wolfgang Schmidt, who is, of course, the head of the Chan-
cellery. They made it very clear that they do want access to natural
gas right now to help them, but not in 2023, because they were
quite clear that in 2023 they will be fine. They do want to have ac-
cess to natural gas going forward, but they want it for the short
term, because they have a very strong vision for dealing with the
climate crisis.

As they are building their transition hubs, as they are building
things within Hamburg to deal with natural gas, they are ensuring
that all of those pieces are equipped, or will be able to be equipped,
for hydrogen, because they are not prepared to go into 10-, 12-, 15-
or 20-year contracts on natural gas. They are interested in short-
term natural gas and then will do a very quick pivot and move as
soon as possible to renewables.

That was made very clear to us, so when we talk about the idea
that right now we don't have the capacity to give natural gas to Ger-
many.... We don't have that infrastructure. I may agree with you
100% that the infrastructure could have been useful, that it would
have been nice to have, but we don't have it.

Realistically, are you describing a “we want your natural gas for
the long term” strategy when the long term doesn't appear to be
what the world is looking for in terms of natural gas?

Mr. Timothy Egan: The comment about the German targets is a
very good one.

If I recall correctly—correct me if I'm wrong—I think the Ger-
mans said they would like to be no longer using gas by 2040. I
think that's their target year.

Ms. Heather McPherson: And they will be reducing it more
and more every year.

Mr. Timothy Egan: Right. The year 2040 is 18 years away.
When we talk about long-term contracts in natural gas, we are usu-
ally talking about 25 years in longer-term contracts, but, to your
point, the Germans are saying, “We don't want a 25-year contract.”
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As some German colleagues have said to me, there's also a con-
cept of the—I apologize for my German pronunciation—
Ringstrasse, the idea of a ring road. The point is to move gas into
the market, and maybe for the next 18 years the Germans will use
that gas, and maybe to your point, the Germans will use a declining
amount of that gas over the next 18 years.

If you look at any forecasts—including UN forecasts, including
IEA forecasts—you see that the world is going to be using gas well
into this century, well beyond that target that the Germans have set
for themselves. Many other countries will still be using gas, and
Canada should be, as many have said, the last molecule. Our gas
could be meeting that global need. Moreover, our gas is already
performing better than much of the supply that's out there, so it
could make a significant environmental contribution now.

The other point I'd make about hydrogen is that you can make
hydrogen from a variety of sources, and, as this government has
noted, the colour shouldn't matter at this point. What we should be
about is making hydrogen. If we're making hydrogen in probably
the most likely way around much of the world, it will be made from
natural gas, so why wouldn't Canadian natural gas be the source for
the German hydrogen? Why wouldn't Canadian natural gas be the
source for hydrogen in many other markets of the world?

My point is, again, why wouldn't we, as we have done with a
host of our resources over the course of our history, see that we pro-
duce those resources in an extraordinarily efficient way, in an envi-
ronmentally preferable way, in an affordable way? Why wouldn't
we try to get those to the global market to help the world?

® (1610)

Ms. Heather McPherson: One would also be able to argue it
this way: Why wouldn't we want to be pushing for advancement in
technologies that take more and more liquid natural gas off the
market as we develop a greener way of providing energy to people
around the world? There's also that, of course.

While I will say that I think we need to be open to all colours—
the turquoise, the grey, the blue, the green, whatever colour that
is—we can very clearly say that green hydrogen is the preferred hy-
drogen for Germany, and for all of us, because it is better for our
climate change targets and our goals.

There is another thing I wanted to ask you about. I'm not an ener-
gy expert. I'm from Alberta, so maybe I should be, but I'm not an
energy expert.

When we talk about infrastructure and regulatory frameworks,
we are talking about building a pipeline to go across the country.
That's what that means. When you say that we are going to expedite
that, or it should be expedited, is what you're saying that we should
not listen to provinces and indigenous groups in the development of
that pipeline?

What expedites the regulatory framework? What's stopping the
regulatory framework?

Mr. Timothy Egan: Of course, I wouldn't say we shouldn't lis-
ten to provinces and first nations. In my experience of late, certain-
ly with respect to first nations, they've been some of the biggest ad-
vocates of resource development—

Ms. Heather McPherson: We always have to be very clear to
note that there is not one opinion within any group.

Mr. Timothy Egan: That is correct. There are hundreds of first
nations across this country. Each has a unique view on these issues.

In my experience over the last year, I've been struck by how
many first nations are stepping forward and saying that they want
these projects to go forward, in large part because they're now equi-
ty holders in these projects. There's a significant economic opportu-
nity for them to improve the well-being of those in their communi-
ties, and that's an enormous benefit to them. They want that benefit,
so they should be given that benefit.

In terms of provinces, I think it's province-by-province, but there
are many provinces that are fully prepared to work with the federal
government on expediting regulatory frameworks in order to build
more infrastructure and so that we can move product to market.

Ms. Heather McPherson: Not all of them are.

Mr. Timothy Egan: Not all of them are, but yours is.
Ms. Heather McPherson: Mine is.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. McPherson.

We'll now go into the second round of questioning, and we will
commence with Mr. Hoback.

You have three minutes.

Mr. Randy Hoback (Prince Albert, CPC): I have three min-
utes? How come?

The Chair: It's because we've gone over. All the members went
over in the first round—

Mr. Randy Hoback: I'm getting penalized because the Liberals
went over their time.

The Chair: —so I'm afraid the time will be reduced for every-
one. Yes.

Mr. Randy Hoback: That's not right.

I'll have to be very quick, Mr. Egan. I had lots of questions for
you.

Let's compare the gas going to the Gazprom pipeline to the gas
that's produced in Canada. What's the ESG, for example, of the
companies involved in Gazprom's supplies versus here in Canada?

Mr. Timothy Egan: I have no study to make reference on that.
Obviously, you can access satellite maps of the world from the IEA
and other sources that show methane emissions around the world.
What's really striking is how low the emissions are in Canada com-
pared to how they are in other parts of the world, like Russia. There
is one comment on the “E”.

To comment on the “S” and the “G”, I don't see a mass move-
ment from countries like North America to Russia of young engi-
neers wanting to work in the oil and gas industry. Perhaps that's
some indication on the “S” and the “G”.
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Mr. Randy Hoback: As far as the governance is concerned,
that's self-proclaimed on its own.

The point I'm trying to make is there's a reason that Germany is
looking at us in the long term and asking, as they look at our indus-
tries and their ESG requirements, where they want to see their sup-
ply chain get the supply of products they need for their facilities.
There's also the fact that we have the war in Ukraine creating hard-
ship at this point in time and forcing them to look at the future. Be-
fore, it was pretty easy; you just opened the valve and took the gas
from Russia.

I'm curious. You talked about the 18 years left. In those 18 years,
if we were to displace Russian gas, what would that mean for the
global environment?

Mr. Timothy Egan: It would mean a dramatic decrease in emis-
sions, straight up.

Again, Canadian gas is produced to the highest standards of en-
vironmental performance. The corporate governance we have in
our country is exceptional. The transparency of the companies is
extraordinary. All of that goes into creating what, I think, is a better
quality product.

Moreover, and to come back to the question from your colleague
about technology, I don't know of a sector in Canada that's invest-
ing more in technological improvements to further reduce our emis-
sions and to further improve our performance. There's a reason why
we have many across industry in this country talking about how a
Canadian molecule is the cleanest molecule. It's because we work
to such high standards, and I think we should be proud of those
standards.

Mr. Randy Hoback: In that situation, then, if you're a Canadian
company, if you're not allowed to get your product to market even
though you've taken all of these steps, why would you continue to
invest in doing this work in Canada when at least in the U.S., if you
did the same work, you could get it to market?

Mr. Timothy Egan: That's a serious risk to future investment in
the sector in Canada.

Mr. Randy Hoback: What does that mean for first nations and
for investment in small communities all across Canada?

Mr. Timothy Egan: It means less economic opportunity for all
of those communities.

Mr. Randy Hoback: Okay.

Mr. Epp, did you want to go?

The Chair: No, I'm afraid you're out of time. It's now over three
minutes. I'm sorry.

Mr. Randy Hoback: I think you have to watch the clock a little
closer. It's not fair.

The Chair: That's exactly what I'm doing now.
Mr. Randy Hoback: In the first round you weren't, obviously.

The Chair: Well, everyone took advantage of it. I do try to the
best of my abilities, but when members do go over, this is what
happens. My apologies for that.

Next we go to Dr. Fry. Dr. Fry, you have three minutes.

Hon. Hedy Fry (Vancouver Centre, Lib.): Thank you.

I just wanted to go back to what both my colleagues, Monsieur
Bergeron and Heather McPherson have said.

I think we know that Europe is determined to have energy, obvi-
ously, for its heating and industrial purposes. That's its immediate
need, but then it has a medium- and long-term strategy, which is
what Canada is trying to focus on. That strategy is obviously to be-
come carbon-neutral, to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and to
use hydrogen.

When he came here, Chancellor Scholz said that he's looking at
Canadian hydrogen to produce hydrogen. Rare minerals that we
have here can produce electric cars. We can look at doing both of
those things immediately, right now. We obviously need the fossil
fuel source of gas.

You said there was an enormous benefit for people in the world
for affordable fossil fuels. It is that enormous use of fossil fuels
around the world that is creating the climate change that we're hav-
ing now.

I think I wanted you to answer a question. You said that you
must build infrastructure, because obviously natural gas is the best
way to create hydrogen. You know that solar energy focusing on
water can split it into oxygen and hydrogen— H2 is hydrogen, and
oxygen is O2. The result is steam. That is what you're doing here to
remove greenhouse gas emissions. We know that micro-organisms
can produce hydrogen as well.

Canada has an opportunity, because we have 20% of the world's
water, to produce hydrogen. Your argument that we only need to go
to fossil fuels and we need to build a huge infrastructure for fossil
fuels is only dealing with an immediate need. It is not looking at
where Canada and Europe want to go in the long term.

I wanted to know why you believe that we cannot produce hy-
drogen without fossil fuels.

The Chair: I'm going to ask Mr. Egan to reply in less than 40
seconds, please.

Mr. Timothy Egan: I don't think I said that it was the only way
to produce hydrogen—it isn't.

To the member's point, hydrogen can be produced by electroly-
sis. Electrolysis technology is the technology that the member is re-
ferring to. Those are viable means to produce it. With any technolo-
gy you use, you have to look at the cost. You have to look at the
viability in light of the cost—

® (1620)

Hon. Hedy Fry: I'm sorry, but I don't have a lot of time.

I wanted to just focus on one quick thing that I really want you to
answer.
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The question, then, is why would we want to build a huge fossil
fuel infrastructure when we should be looking at investing in ways
to deal with electrolysis and the form of micro-organisms to create
hydrogen?

Let hydrogen be the future—and of course, for electric cars, etc.,
Canada has rare minerals in large amounts. We have all the re-
sources to do it—

The Chair: You are considerably over time. Perhaps I could ask
that you get to your question.

Mr. Egan, could you provide a timely second response?

Hon. Hedy Fry: I did ask him to tell me why we would dismiss
those other ways of producing hydrogen.

Mr. Timothy Egan: I didn't dismiss them. In fact, my industry is
advocating them and is doing a lot of work on all of them.

I would point out that the development of rare earth minerals is a
very costly experience and requires a great deal of energy input. If
the energy input is too expensive, you won't develop those rare
earth minerals, and that means you won't ever develop the kinds of
electric technologies and other technologies that the member's re-
ferring to.

We all want to develop those things. Affordability is fundamental
to all of this.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Egan.

We now go to Mr. Bergeron. You have a minute and a half, Mr.
Bergeron.

[Translation]

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Egan, this past August you gave an interview to The Hill
Times in which you stated that the world will consume much more
natural gas in the coming decades, regardless of emissions limits or
targets.

Are you telling us that the targets set by Canada and others are
just meaningless numbers?
[English]

Mr. Timothy Egan: What I'm saying is that countries around the
world are starved for energy, and the energy they want is natural
gas, and they're developing that resource or finding others who are
developing that resource and buying it from them, so while Canada
can indeed pursue the targets it has and pursue them in a host of
ways—and again, my member companies are very active in pursu-
ing those targets in co-operation with government—globally the re-
ality is that the first priority for millions and millions is getting ac-
cess to affordable energy, and more natural gas is going to need to
be produced and used in the world in order to achieve that end.

[Translation]

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron: It's far from affordable energy these
days.

Thank you, Mr. Egan.
[English]
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Bergeron.

We now go to Ms. McPherson. You have a minute and a half.

Ms. Heather McPherson: A minute and a half....
Thank you again for your testimony.

When I last asked you some questions, you gave the impression
that there are a lot of indigenous groups that are supportive of natu-
ral gas projects and that there are many provinces, including my
own of Alberta, that are very supportive of a natural gas pipeline,
so what's the problem?

Realistically, you're talking about the idea that we have. We are a
massive country with many provinces, many indigenous peoples
that have many opinions, so the reality is is that we have to adhere
to UNDRIP. We should want to. We have to adhere to provincial ju-
risdiction. We should want to. There is complexity in building mas-
sive infrastructure projects in this country; we can say that this
shouldn't be the case, but it is the case. I know that quite well. I
come from an oil family. I understand this.

However, realistically, the facts remain. This is the reality that
we have. This is the reality of our situation at the moment: The po-
tential for us to be able to get natural gas to Germany to help with
Germany's immediate problems right now is quite limited. It's quite
limited for us to help in 2023 and it's quite limited for us to help in
2024, 2025, 2026, and they're hopeful to not need it very much af-
ter that. Is that not accurate?

1 know that you're talking about the global situation, but we're
talking about Germany here. This study was about the impacts of
the weaponization of energy.

That's my statement.

The Chair: Ms. McPherson, you're well over your time.
Thank you, Mr. Egan.

Now we go to Mr. Epp. You have three minutes, sir.

Mr. Dave Epp (Chatham-Kent—Leamington, CPC): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

My riding is the home of the second-largest cluster of greenhous-
es in the world after the Netherlands, and it consumes a lot of natu-
ral gas today. When gas prices spiked to $14 a gigajoule over 15
years ago, we went back to bunker C, back to coal, etc. Fortunately,
now it's come back to natural gas, the cleanest-burning alternative
that's available to that sector.

Can you talk about natural gas's position structurally from a price
perspective, looking at long-term investments in infrastructure rela-
tive to what could be coming down the road, such as hydrogen or
things like that?

® (1625)

Mr. Timothy Egan: We don't forecast gas prices. It's a quick
pathway to abject failure to try to forecast energy prices.
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What I will say is that the supply picture is an extraordinary one
in Canada and in North America. We often talk about Canada and
the United States. We should also note that Mexico sits on enor-
mous gas resources, and as Mexico begins to look at the develop-
ment of its resources in a more robust way, that also offers enor-
mous environmental and social benefits.

To the specifics of your question and what's going to affect the
price going forward, obviously there are certain things over which
we have no control that can have a dramatic impact on gas markets,
such as Russia's invasion of Ukraine. Things that we can control in-
clude sending a signal to investors that it's worth investing more in
supply in Canada.

Mr. Dave Epp: Thank you.

Mr. Chair, I'm going to cede the remainder of my time to Mr.
Genuis.

Mr. Garnett Genuis (Sherwood Park—Fort Saskatchewan,
CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Mr. Egan, for your excellent testimony today and for
your work. I very much appreciate what you've had to share with
us. It underlines the importance of the work we need to do on ener-
gy security.

We're now at the conclusion of our study on Gazprom turbines,
and in that light, I would like to move a motion that Conservatives
have put on notice. The motion is this:

That the committee report to the House that it calls on the Government of

Canada to immediately revoke the waiver to Russian sanctions granted for the
export of Gazprom turbines.

I'll make a few remarks on that motion and then I look forward to
hearing the comments of other members. Again, I want to thank our
witness today.

We began this study on the government's decision to grant a
waiver to Gazprom in the summer. We did so under the rubric of an
emergency meeting. There was strong support to proceed with that
study. We heard very clearly strong arguments against the govern-
ment's decision to waive sanctions on Russia in this particular case.

Concerns were raised, of course, about how waiving sanctions
provides an economic benefit to Russia—

Ms. Heather McPherson: Mr. Chair, I have a point of order.

Would it be possible for us to excuse Mr. Egan? I think our time
with him is done, and we should probably allow him to leave if he
would like.

The Chair: We did have another member who had a time slot,
but regrettably, it does not seem like he will get the opportunity.
You have our apologies, Mr. Sarai.

Mr. Egan, allow me to thank you on behalf of the entire commit-
tee. We're very grateful for your time. You can leave if you so wish.

Mr. Timothy Egan: I'm happy to talk to any of the members af-
terwards and take questions privately, should that be a request.
Thank you for the opportunity to appear today.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Egan.
Go ahead, Mr. Genuis.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Of course, one reason to oppose the waiver was a concern about
the economic benefit that comes to Russia any time you waive
sanctions. We also heard clearly about the message it sends when
countries talk a big game about sanctions, but then find exceptions
here and exceptions there. The accumulation of exceptions leads to
what one witness had described as kind of a sanctions Swiss
cheese, where there are all sorts of holes and your sanctions regime
is no longer effective.

These were some of the powerful arguments made. We had the
opportunity, of course, to hear directly from the Ukrainian ambas-
sador as part of that discussion.

We heard three distinct arguments from the government as to
why they granted the sanctions waiver. First of all, they talked
about how this was going to supposedly help get energy resources
to Germany. That's obviously a moot point now in that the one tur-
bine that was sent back to Europe was never used and now the
pipeline has been out of commission. We're not seeing these tur-
bines play any role in supplying energy to Germany.

The government then said that allowing the sanctions waiver,
which was in effect giving Putin exactly what he wanted, was
somehow a way of calling Putin's bluff. We didn't particularly buy
that argument at the time, and at this point it's obviously past the
moment of that argument because we've sent one turbine back and
it hasn't been used. Any bluff that was or wasn't going to be called
has been called and there's no reason to repair and send back five
additional turbines.

Another argument that was used by the government was the al-
leged impact on jobs here in Canada, but we heard very clearly
from Siemens representatives that no jobs in Canada would be neg-
atively affected.

We've seen, either through witness testimony or through other
global events, the dismantling of these arguments in favour of
granting the sanctions waiver.

The point remains that if we're going to stand strong behind
Ukraine, we should not be granting exemptions to our sanctions.
We should not be repairing turbines for Gazprom. I think that's the
clear conclusion for me from this study. Based on comments that
have been made by others, I'm fairly confident this reflects the ma-
jority view on this committee.

I hope we'll be able, therefore, to send a strong message in sup-
port of our friends and allies in Ukraine by opposing the sanctions
waiver and we call on the government to revoke it. Hopefully, we'll
see the adoption of this motion, which indeed sends that message.

Thank you.
® (1630)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Genuis.
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We now go to Mr. Oliphant.

Hon. Robert Oliphant (Don Valley West, Lib.): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

I've had a little bit of time to think about the motion—not a lot of
time—and I'm opposed to it for two reasons.

The first is on principle, and the second is on the actual sub-
stance of the motion.

There may be a variety of disagreement with respect to the sub-
stance, but [ want to talk about the principle first.

We are in the midst of a study on the war in Ukraine by Russia,
including the aspect of the Gazprom turbines. We are in the midst
of that study, and I do not think it is ever good for a committee to
jump to conclusions before we finish the study. That is just good
process. That is the way we work best as a parliamentary commit-
tee.

We have a study. We will have a report, and there can be recom-
mendations in that report with respect to the waiver. I'm very will-
ing to entertain it at that time, but I think that there's a certain
amount of grandstanding that is going on with a motion like this
that I don't think is necessarily helpful in a parliamentary system.
Nor do I think it is wise for us to set that kind of a precedent for
jumping to conclusions before we have finished our study.

In that regard, we have just spent an hour without any substance
related to the topic at hand, which is the Gazprom turbines. We
heard committee testimony that should have gone to our natural re-
sources committee; that's where it belongs. It was an inappropriate
waste of time of the foreign affairs and international development
committee to spend time talking about a very important issue, but
it's not our issue, sir. It is not our issue to deal with. It is the natural
resources committee's responsibility as part of the energy infras-
tructure of this country to deal with it. It had nothing to do with a
turbine, a pipeline or two pipelines in supplying Russia with ener-
gy. It was, again, a political manoeuvre by one of the opposition
parties to attract attention to an issue that really deserves time, as I
will admit, but not at this committee. This committee is meant to be
dealing with our international relations and our international devel-
opment portfolios that we are responsible for and charged with as
part of the standing orders that we deal with.

We had an hour. I did not raise the question of relevance of the
questioning because the witness was absolutely clear and absolutely
forthright in his testimony. It had nothing to do with Russia and it
had nothing to do with Germany and nothing to do with the
Gazprom turbines particularly, but it had to do with a failure of one
of the opposition parties to understand the nature of climate change,
the nature of the change in the economy and the nature of energy.

No questions were raised about the fact that we have nuclear en-
ergy in this country, which far outweighs the importance. I would
suggest to some European countries that they should deal with that.
That's not, again, this committee's responsibility. Those are domes-
tic issues in Germany, and their ability to have energy security is
their absolute responsibility. They will seek other forms of energy.
Particularly, we know that the Prime Minister and the Chancellor

had great discussions with respect to green hydrogen, and I think
that is an important discussion.

On the process, I simply disagree. Let's wait until we get our re-
port. Let's get an understanding of the whole complex nature of the
situation. Let's get a whole understanding of what is going on, and
then we can, indeed, look at whether or not we want a recommen-
dation with respect to one particular waiver. It's also facile to at-
tempt to say that somehow the Government of Canada is not sup-
portive of Ukraine with this one waiver.

Canada is ranked in the top five countries. Some of us were able
to meet with the Polish Speaker a few months ago, who looked at
the five or six countries that are key to supporting Ukraine militari-
ly, economically, with sanctions, with UN resolutions at the Inter-
national Criminal Court and at the International Court of Justice.
That is what Canada is doing. Canada is well known for doing it.

® (1635)

Canada is extremely honoured on our defence spending, on our
economic measures, as well as on our sanctions, which we do in
concert with other countries.

Let's get the whole report and see whether there is a place for a
recommendation to the government with respect to the waiver.
That's on the principle.

On the content, I would still say I'm getting rather circular rea-
soning from the Conservatives. | hear that the turbine is of no val-
ue, is not being used and is simply superfluous to the whole situa-
tion. I hear that somehow it is hindering Ukraine's ability to fight in
a war. It can't be both.

The reality is that I am hearing these arguments that then take me
simply into pure politics and an attempt to divide. I think if there's
one thing we've learned from other experiences of war, Canada has
been at its best when we actually unite and talk together about how
we do things in the best interest of Canada first and in our support
for Ukraine.

We are engaged in the illegal conflict of Russia and its invasion
of Ukraine for several reasons. It offends our sense of international
law, of territorial integrity and of our understanding, and the world's
understanding, of the history of Ukraine and the Ukrainian people.
We have stood united, I believe, against Russia's illegal invasion.
We should continue to do that based on the fact that it is wrong.

We also stand united by this because Canada has a unique rela-
tionship with Ukraine. We are home to the largest diaspora of
Ukrainian people outside of Russia, if that is to be considered, on
absolute numbers and on percentage. We have an emotional con-
nection. Nobody doesn't care about Ukrainian people or Ukraine as
an emerging yet fragile democracy that we have been supporting
since its independence.

The second reason we are doing that, which I hope will come out
in this report that we are united about, is the deep and abiding peo-
ple-to-people connection that we have had for well over a century.
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The third reason—and I sometimes have to remind people of this
when I've been travelling—is that if you look at the globe in one
way, Russia seems very far away from Canada. If you look at the
globe from the top, you recognize that we share a maritime border
with Russia. It is a matter of Canadian security to be sure that we
are able to watch, manage and push back on Russian aggression
when it comes to anybody's territorial integrity because we have
Canada's Arctic as well.

People live in the Arctic. Resources are in the Arctic. Climate
change is affecting the Arctic. The ocean is opening. We are watch-
ing very closely what Russia is doing in Ukraine because we obvi-
ously have sovereignty concerns in our Arctic.

That tells me that we need to engage in a different way on this
discussion. We need to find ways that don't play politics about it
and don't try to divide and conquer. We have to find a way to be a
unity government and we will take advice from the opposition reg-
ularly. The Minister of Foreign Affairs is regularly engaged with
members of the opposition, who have had constructive, important
and positive statements with respect to Ukraine and have been en-
gaged all the way through.

It's absolutely appropriate for the opposition to push on military
weapons that we should be sending to Ukraine. However, we've al-
so seen that they are often out of date and may not actually be
wanted in Ukraine.

We look at our allies. We look at NATO and at how we doing
what we can. Canada offers transport for weapons constantly. We
are engaged in providing support and care. We are continuing with
the training mission, which began after the invasion of Crimea. We
are continuing to provide financial support, sovereign loans and
other supports to ensure that the economy continues. That's what
we should be talking about.

On the content of the motion, it's circular, it's specious and it is
going back and forth to try to somehow prove some nefarious idea
that the government is not helping Ukraine to every degree we can.
We are, and we will continue to do that.

Also, on the concept of principle, I would be against it because
we haven't done our report yet.

® (1640)

If we need more evidence, we'll get more evidence, but I think
we have a good calendar to get us to a report, despite the fact that
we just wasted an hour on a natural resources committee hearing
when we should have been doing more important work with respect
to this study.

I would be against this motion as I just....

In closing, I'll repeat that on the principle, we have not finished
our report yet. On the substance of the motion, I think it is wrong
and not in the best interest of Canada's international position or
Canada's domestic position, as well as our alliance with countries
like Germany—but not exclusively Germany—and with respect to
Ukraine. It has still not been proven to me that this has affected
Ukraine in any negative way whatsoever. Perhaps, while being able
to at least open the door to helping allies, we want to continue to
work with and be with all of them every step of the way.

The very last point would be that every country needs a social li-
cence from its voters, from its electorate, from its citizenry and
from its residents to engage in these wars. That's what we need.
Our European allies constantly need that. If they have an energy se-
curity threat, just as our southern neighbours may have a food secu-
rity threat, we need to stand with them. We need to work on energy
security, absolutely, and we need to work on food security, abso-
lutely, while we push back against Putin's regime to say “enough is
enough”.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Oliphant.

We'll go to Mr. Genuis.
Mr. Garnett Genuis: I'm sorry. I'll strike for now.
The Chair: We'll then go to Ms. Bendayan.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I wanted to speak to the motion brought forward by my col-
league. I am very interested in the discussion that we're having. As
I'm sure he is well aware, the situation in Ukraine is something that
I care about very deeply.

However, we heard testimony on various occasions that was very
specific to the turbine issue, including with respect to where this
turbine currently is and what it is being used for. I was unable to
pull up the exact transcript, but I am sure that the clerk and analysts
can help us with the testimony that we heard from witnesses, who
told us that the turbine is essentially sitting in a room, serving no
purpose to anyone, including Russia.

What I know is that we need to continue to move forward to sup-
port the Ukrainians in ending end this war. Huge advances have
been made as recently as a few hours ago. Again, today we an-
nounced an additional $500 million in support of the Ukrainian war
effort and the fight for democracy and freedom.

What I find a bit troubling.... Of course, I understand the position
of my colleagues, but I would like to put on the record that the only
time members of Parliament have ever voted to weaken the sanc-
tions regime imposed on Russia by our country was when Conser-
vative members put forward a motion on the opposition day of June
7, at the very height of the war. They requested that our government
eliminate tariffs on fertilizer. At that point, all four members of the
Conservative Party who sit on this committee voted in favour of
that motion. It is a motion I found then and still find today extreme-
ly problematic.

That would be an important waiver of our sanctions regime. It
would effectively mean that the Conservative position on sanctions
against Russia is that we should weaken them, not strengthen them.
I find it important to mention that today as my colleagues attempt
to take the high road on sanctions following their vote on June 7
which, again, was at the height of the war.
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Mr. Chair, I understand that my colleague will speak again, so
perhaps I can respond to what he says at a later time during this dis-
cussion. That's all I wanted to say for the moment.

® (1645)
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Bendayan.

We'll go to Mr. Chong.
Hon. Michael Chong: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

First off, on the timing of this motion, it's entirely appropriate,
Mr. Chair, to debate this motion at this point. This is our last sched-
uled meeting on this study concerning the Gazprom turbines. I
think it's entirely appropriate for us to conclude these hearings with
debate and either adoption or rejection of the motion. The Ukraine
study is separate from this particular study that brings us here to-
day, and so I think it's entirely appropriate for us to debate this mo-
tion and to conclude this particular study on the Gazprom turbines
with this motion.

In regard to eliminating the tariffs on fertilizer, the member op-
posite is wrong in her argument. The government applied the tariffs
on fertilizer for Canadian farmers retroactively, Mr. Chair. Farmers
who had contracted nitrogen last fall, before the war had begun in
Ukraine on February 24, were suddenly dinged with a massive tar-
iff that directly affected their ability to fertilize their crops this past
spring. It has led to effects on yields for corn, wheat, soybeans and
a range of other crops. To suggest that it was inappropriate for us to
ask the government to not retroactively apply the tariff on nitrogen
fertilizer is wrong. We simply asked that the government not apply
the tariff to fertilizer that had been contracted for before the war be-
gan on February 24, an entirely reasonable position. Farmers
shouldn't be penalized for making decisions last fall, a year ago, be-
fore the war began in Ukraine.

I heard from dozens and dozens of farmers in my riding of
Wellington County in Halton Region who were quite upset about
this tariff because they had made decisions on crops and on fertiliz-
er use, whether they were going to use nitrogen or other types of
fertilizers, based on the fact that there was no tariff on it at that
time.

We support the tariff on fertilizer that was contracted after the
war began on February 24. I think that's an entirely cogent and con-
sistent position. In fact, I think it's the right position for the govern-
ment to have taken, but it didn't take our advice, clearly, which is
why farmers were negatively impacted, as they often are with this
government, for decisions they made well before the war began in
Ukraine.

By the way, Mr. Chair, we cannot neglect the fact that these
farmers are often operating on razor-thin margins. It was an unfair
retroactive application of a sanction that should never have been
retroactively applied prior to the war beginning on February 24.

Regarding the meeting we just had with Mr. Egan from the Cana-
dian Gas Association, it's entirely appropriate for this committee to
talk about exporting LNG in the context of the Gazprom decision
by the government. At the end of the day, what we are talking about
is whether or not we should have any role as a country in replacing
40% of Russian gas in western Europe.

We clearly believe that Canada does have a role to play. In fact,
Mr. Chair, I'll put to you that Canada, being a middle-sized power,
can't impact many of the aspects of this security situation in Europe
in a way that a larger superpower, such as the United States, or larg-
er powers such as the United Kingdom, France or Germany, can by
virtue of their size, but the one area in which we could have an out-
sized impact on countering Putin's aggressive war in Ukraine is in
cutting off the source of some $100 billion that has flowed since
February 24 into Russia from the sale and export of oil and gas.
That is one area where Canada could cut the Putin regime off at the
knees by replacing Russian gas in western Europe with Canadian
natural gas. By doing that, we will cut off the 30% of the Russian
economy that is based on oil and gas, large parts of which are ex-
ported.

® (1650)

If we do that, we can make an outsized contribution to the NATO
alliance, and an outsized contribution to the defence of democracies
both here and across the Atlantic, which is why this is not simply a
natural resources issue for the natural resources committee. This is
not simply an economic issue for the finance committee; this is a
geopolitical issue, a foreign affairs issue for this committee.

In fact, we had a visit from a head of government of a G7 ally to
this country in August. His number one request was for more Cana-
dian gas, for any Canadian gas. He went away empty-handed. To
suggest that this is just a narrow issue that should be restricted to
some economic committee is simply false.

In fact, Mr. Chair, if it was simply an economic issue, then why
did the Deputy Prime Minister go to Washington on October 11 to
give a keynote foreign policy speech, a large part of which centred
on expediting Canadian energy for our allies? In fact, many have
dubbed it the “Freeland Doctrine” on foreign policy. She also indi-
cated in that speech that this was a new policy of “friend-shoring”.

I quote a sentence from her speech. She said, “And crucially, we
must then be prepared to spend some domestic political capital in
the name of economic security for our democratic partners.” That is
a foreign policy doctrine of the Deputy Prime Minister of this gov-
ernment that makes it clear that the government sees the export and
expediting of natural gas not just as a narrow economic issue but as
an essential geopolitical issue in support of our allies across the At-
lantic.

Mr. Chair, I hope that members of this committee support the
motion. It's done in good faith.
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I'll finish by saying this: The government should immediately re-
voke the waiver. Nord Stream 1 has been blown up. There's a 50-
metre hole in the pipeline. These turbines aren't going to be of any
use to anyone. That pipeline is not coming back. It is broken and
dead. As a point of principle, the government should acknowledge
the mistake it made in granting the waiver in the first place and
simply cancel the waiver so that we can get our foreign policy back
on track, which is to say that we don't support Russian exports of
natural gas to western Europe. We support the exports of Canadian
liquefied natural gas to Europe. Adopting this motion will send a
clear statement from this committee about its opinion on the matter,
and hopefully sway the government to do the same.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Chong.

We have five more people on the list currently; however, I did
want to inform everyone that we do have a hard stop at 5:30 p.m.,
because we don't have resources past that.

We next go to Mr. Hoback.
® (1655)
Mr. Randy Hoback: Thank you, Chair.

A lot of questions have been asked about why. If they're going to
use it, why should we use it? There's a simple answer to that: It
sends a signal. It sends a hard signal back to Russia that it doesn't
matter what you do; we're not going to supply things to you.

It's symbolism going to Europe to say that we're supporting you
guys, and we're supporting Ukraine by making sure that the waiver
was revoked, so there's no chance you're ever going to get that tur-
bine. It sends a signal to the company doing the refurbishing that
the turbine has no value, so they can take it apart and throw it away
or do whatever they want with it. Just do something with it, because
we're not going to ship it. That's the symbolism it's going to send.

When you looked at the motion, why now? It's been waiting long
enough. This motion has been on notice for quite a while; it's noth-
ing new. This notice of motion has been in the committee probably
for two or three weeks, so there's no surprise here that this was go-
ing to come up. In fact, it was talked about before, but then we said,
“No, let's wait until we have Mr. Egan testify and then do it”, which
is what has happened here today, so there's no surprise to the Liber-
al party or any of the other parties that this was going to come up
today. It was clearly laid out in front of people that this would be
coming forward.

This is something that I think really needs to be done. It's just an-
other example of where we need to step up and do what we say
we're going to do and show that we're going to back our words with
action. In the midst of the study, the parliamentary secretary said
that we had a study going on. There are things that are changing,
but one thing we know is the right thing to do. You don't need to
wait to finish a study to know when you're doing the right thing,
and the right thing is revoking this waiver.

He says that we're grandstanding; I addressed that. We're not
grandstanding. I asked about Gazprom, and when I asked about
Gazprom and the type of gas going in there, what did he say? He
said environmentally, Canadian gas would displace a much less en-

vironmentally friendly gas. He talked about methane being released
in the fields in Russia and the impact that has for the global envi-
ronment.

I asked about ESG, environmental social governance. You can
look at the Canadian companies and see what they've done in ESG
compared to a Russian company. I don't think there is any compari-
son. When you look at their allies in Europe, when their companies
are looking at our gas and saying that they have to meet what their
bankers, insurance companies and shareholders want in regard to
ESG requirements, we can help meet those requirements and fulfill
that need, not just in the short term but in the long term, because
we've gone through that process. We've put in the regulatory pro-
cess to do that.

What's really frustrating is when they've done all this work to
meet these requirements and are told they can't take advantage of
them here in Canada. What do they have to do? They have to go to
Mexico or the U.S. to take advantage of all technologies they've de-
veloped here in Canada, because this government won't let them
fulfill the ability to take this technology into the world marketplace.

You've heard that 18 years of gas are still going to be used in
Germany, and that's just Germany. We're not talking about third
world countries that are going to be using gas for maybe another 40
or 50 years. Where would you want to see this gas come from?
Where do you want to see the wealth created? Do you want to see
the wealth created in Russia, where it funds the military machine
for further aggression within Europe and in Ukraine, or do you
want this to come back into Canada and go to our health care sys-
tem or schools or a variety of social services that we have here in
Canada that we want and dearly feel we require?

You know those are things paid for by long projects such as natu-
ral gas, and energy security around the globe is one of the bargain-
ing chips that Canada has on the international stage. We have gas,
we have uranium and we have critical elements. We have things
that the world wants. It's a strong bargaining chip and it allows us
to influence Canada's agenda on the global stage, but when you tie
the hands behind the backs of the people who are doing this, you're
taking away those bargaining tools, those chips. You're not allow-
ing Canada to fulfill its destiny or requirements within the world.

It sounds kind of silly that a simple motion like this would not go
through relatively quickly. I think it should have just been bang,
yes, let's get her done and move on. I don't even understand why
we're debating it for another five minutes. It's just a no-brainer; it
should happen.

If you tell me you're going to ship a turbine to Russia next week
to a pipeline that's blown up, really, what do you care? You're not
doing that, and you know that, so what do you care about the waiv-
er? Just get rid of it, and let's move on to doing something else in
this committee. We've eaten up committee time debating something
that doesn't need to be debated.



November 14, 2022 FAAE-36 15
I'll leave it there, Chair. ® (1705)
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Hoback. [English]

‘We now go to Mr. Bergeron.
[Translation]

Mr. Stéphane Bergeron: Mr. Chair, first, | must say that I'm a
bit uncomfortable. We were supposed to hear from other witnesses
on Bill S-223. If we are planning to do that, I wonder if we
wouldn't be better off thanking these witnesses and letting them go
because the discussion on our colleague Mr. Genuis's motion seems
to be dragging on.

With respect to the motion, and in response to Mr. Oliphant's re-
marks, with which I largely agree, I would say that it was appropri-
ate for this committee to address the decision made by the Govern-
ment of Canada. The decision did put us at odds with the Ukraini-
ans, as well as the Germans and many other Europeans.

From the outset, I thought that it must not have been an easy de-
cision for the government to allow this turbine to be returned to Eu-
rope. We wanted an opportunity to let the government explain its
decision, which it did. For quite some time now, we've felt we
should end this turbine study because there's no need to debate the
issue any longer, for a number of reasons.

First, we've called Mr. Putin's bluff. Whether or not we return the
turbine, we realized that the Kremlin had no intention of continuing
to supply Germany or any other European nation via the Nord
Stream 1 pipeline, which the Russians likely bombed themselves.

When she appeared before this committee, the German ambas-
sador herself alluded to Canada suspending the permit given that
the bluff had been called. The turbine was no longer relevant, and
leaving the permit open when the government had planned to be
able to revoke it is not only inappropriate, it's bordering on laugh-
able, absurd, ridiculous.

For the sake of credibility, the committee must end its work on
the turbine issue. If it were up to us, we would have stopped work-
ing on this a long time ago. It was our Conservative friends who in-
sisted that we add witnesses. However, as Mr. Oliphant pointed out,
the additional hearings did nothing to further fuel the debate.

It's very clear from our perspective. While controversial, the gov-
ernment's reasons for allowing the turbine to go back to Europe
seemed to us to be justified in the circumstances. They are no
longer justified, they haven't been for some time, and we should
have come to an agreement on that long ago.

That's why, despite Mr. Oliphant's reservations, which I mostly
agree with, we have to conclude that the government needs to sus-
pend and revoke the permit, and we need to move on.

® (1700)

Again, I regret that this debate has somewhat dragged on and
kept our witnesses waiting.

Because you momentarily refrained from speaking when I was
talking about this, Mr. Chair, I would again suggest that we thank
the witnesses, let them go and call them to appear at a later date.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Bergeron.

Allow me, just before ceding the floor to Mr. Genuis, to apolo-
gize to the two witnesses who made themselves available. When a
motion is tabled, the rules and procedures here are that it has to be
debated. We're terribly sorry that this has happened.

That said, I now go to—

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Are they excused?

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I'll strike.

The Chair: Okay.

Perhaps I should also tell the two witnesses—I understand there's
one witness online and another in the room here today—that they
are dismissed. It does not appear, given the number of people who
have asked to speak to this motion, that we will have any time left.
We only have until 5:30, and there are currently three other mem-
bers on the list.

Thank you very much for having made yourselves available.
Again, our apologies for this development. We're very grateful for
your kind appearance here today.

We now go to—

Go ahead, Dr. Fry.

Hon. Hedy Fry: My hand has been up for quite awhile. I don't
know if you've seen it.

The Chair: Yes, there's one person ahead of you, Dr. Fry.
Hon. Hedy Fry: Thank you.

The Chair: As the list currently stands, it is Mr. Zuberi, Dr. Fry
and then Ms. Bendayan.

Mr. Zuberi, the floor is yours.

Mr. Sameer Zuberi (Pierrefonds—Dollard, Lib.): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

This is an important debate and conversation we're having right
now.

I want to thank the witnesses for taking the time to be here and [
hope that we will have them in our next meeting, where we can ask
some questions and get into their testimony. I was very much look-
ing forward to that and I'm sorry that we'll have to postpone it to
next time. I do hope that they come again in person, if possible. |
know one's online and another is in person, but I'm hoping to see
them again here in person if possible. I'm very grateful to them for
taking the time to be here.
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So much attention has been given to Ukraine. So much of our
country's attention has been focused on it, in our hearts and minds
and discussions as parliamentarians, and so much ink has been
spilled in the papers about Ukraine. We, all of us as a country,
clearly support the territorial integrity and political integrity of
Ukraine. Obviously, we take extreme offence with the fact that
Russia has betrayed article 2(4) of the UN charter, which speaks di-
rectly to the territorial integrity and political integrity of nation
states. What is happening is a great affront, which is exactly the
reason that we as a country have been fully in solidarity with
Ukrainians, why we with our allies—including the United King-
dom, the U.S., EU, Australia and many others—have been check-
ing President Putin and have been ensuring that this aggression
comes to a halt.

We have done so much already as a country to shore up and re-
store Ukraine, Ukrainians and the independence of the country. We
know, just to remind us here around the table, that as of February
22, we have imposed sanctions on the Russian Duma, the State Du-
ma, which was an important act. That was followed up with other
acts, including on February 24, when we sanctioned President
Putin's inner circle and close contacts. Then on February 25, we
moved against President Putin himself as an individual and sanc-
tioned not only him but also his chief of staff, and we continued on
to his foreign minister, Sergei Lavrov, and the ministers of justice,
finance and defence. We have acted clearly and swiftly.

Speaking of swift, we've also seen that Russia was removed from
the whole SWIFT system, which sent a signal that we are not just
sanctioning individuals—those who are leading this war machine—
but also making it hurt so that they cannot profit from this, the
country cannot profit from this, and people respond to this. Thank-
fully, we know there have been many brave individuals within Rus-
sia itself, including key journalists, including civil society actors
and protesters, who have come forth and spoken against their own
government. This is extremely brave. We know this. It's easy for us
in Canada to do this and it's easy for those in Australia or the EU to
do this, but it's extremely difficult for those in Russia to stand up
and speak to their own government in speaking truth to power. This
is something we have to remind ourselves of and support those
sorts of actions.

On March 1, we said that we intend to ban Russian-registered
ships from entering our waters, our ports and our internal waters,
which is an important move. On March 2, we additionally an-
nounced that we would impose restrictions on an additional 10 key
individuals from two important companies in Russia's energy sec-
tor, including Gazprom.

Today, at a G20 summit in Bali, Indonesia, Prime Minister Justin
Trudeau announced that $500 million in additional military assis-
tance would be given to Ukraine.

® (1710)

This is on top of the $500 million already allocated in budget
2022 towards military surveillance and communications equipment.
We have thus far sanctioned 1,400 individuals and entities. This is
all in an effort to halt what's happening. All of this that I just men-
tioned is on top of the $3.4 billion in assistance that we have given
to Ukraine.

We are steadfast in our support of Ukraine, and we have done so
much already, but I think the key issue here is the motion. I'll read it
again. It says:

That the committee report to the House that it calls on the Government of
Canada to immediately revoke the waiver to Russian sanctions granted for the
export of Gazprom turbines.

As my colleague Mr. Oliphant said, the challenge around this
particular motion is that it is putting forth what should be a poten-
tial recommendation and putting it forth in terms of a motion from
this committee that we vote upon.

I'm fairly new here—three years. Most of the others have been
here many more years than I have. What I've learned in my three
years here is that this type of statement might be very valid and it
might be where we land as a committee; but the rightful place for it
is within a recommendation. To fast-forward and fast-track that
through a motion isn't ideal. It is far from appropriate, I would sug-
gest, although it's within the rules. However, I would suggest that it
be put forth as a recommendation, and that's where it belongs.

To make a long story short, we've done so much for Ukraine. We
stand by Ukraine. We have stood by Ukraine not only in words but
also in concrete actions since the beginning. We will continue to do
so. With respect to this particular motion, it's best placed in a poten-
tial recommendation.

I'll share with you that I was in Europe just last week. I went to
Belgium and saw so many Remembrance Day ceremonies over
there, on the night of the 10th and on November 11. What I saw
and appreciated was how much the society over there still remem-
bers conflicts from the past 105 years up through World War II until
today.

We have to be very grateful that we thankfully do not have these
sorts of problems and challenges here in Canada and that we have a
beautiful society where people come together from all backgrounds
and have built a project. This is something we should cherish and
guard and actually share with the rest of the world.

I was touched by how much people remember and also how they
remember the presence of Canada and Canadians. I spent the eve of
November 10 in Passchendaele, where approximately 450,000 sol-
diers, young souls, died during World War I, over 105 years ago.
This city, a space of over a few kilometres, was liberated by
Canada.

One thing I'd like to share with this committee is the affection
that the city of Passchendaele has for us as Canadians. I encourage
those who are here watching this and those who are in this commit-
tee room—staff and others—to just go to this city, if ever they're in
that region on November 11, and see the celebrations.

On this motion, I've said what I need to say. Maybe I'll have
more to say on it in a bit, but for the moment I'd like to see this in a
recommendation to be debated and discussed, as opposed to here.
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Thank you, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Zuberi.

We now go to Dr. Fry.

Dr. Fry, the floor is yours.
Hon. Hedy Fry: Thank you very much, Chair.

I have some empathy with what Mr. Bergeron said, but I also
want to agree with Rob Oliphant. We have spent some time doing
this study and we have listened to witnesses. We need to put for-
ward a report and recommendations.

To have a motion that actually presumes it is the major report in
many ways and that kicks aside the report doesn't seem to me to be
wise, nor is it in keeping with good committee procedure. I think it
should not have happened.

At the same time, I know that Mr. Chong talked about the fact
that the Ukraine study is separate. It's not. This is about Ukraine.
This is about the very complex issue we're dealing with. This is
about the fact that there is no right or wrong, black or white, in
terms of how we deal with some of the complex problems of ener-
gy needs in Europe right now and how that butts up against sanc-
tions that we are willing to make. Those are not easy answers. They
are not black or white. They are not simple answers. We need to
have listened to people, which we did, and we need to come up
with a report that reflects what we heard. Then we can talk about
recommendations.

I think I agree with Mr. Zuberi. This motion should not have
been made, because it suddenly makes everything we have done
and the time we have spent listening to witnesses into wasted time.
It presumes that the rest of this committee does not have an opin-
ion, that the rest of this committee did not hear witnesses and that
the rest of this committee doesn't have anything to say in a report.
For me, that is a little bit disrespectful of this committee and what
we have been doing. It makes our time wasted, so to speak.

We have come to the end of the hearings on this. Let us do what
committees always do. Let's have our analysts present us with their
report. Let them go about listing what we heard from witnesses. Let
them put some recommendations forward for us. Let us put some
recommendations forward from us. Let us do it the way we always
do, with a report.

For me, what is bothersome about this motion is it is back to ev-
eryone saying that we all agree that Ukraine is important, that
Canada stands firmly, that all the political parties stand with it, and
then we take these little cheap partisan political tricks and throw
them on the table. Why, for once, can't we act with some kind of
integrity about the way that these hearings, these discussions, of
Gazprom went on? We heard a lot of things from witnesses.

I also agree with Rob Oliphant when he said the discussion about
how Canada sends energy to Europe is not for this committee. It is
for trade and it is for natural resources. It's both a domestic issue
and an export issue. It's not our issue.

What we want to talk about is how we stop the money going to
Russia that in fact feeds its war effort. How do we stop that? How

do we stand firm on the things we want to do? Canada has been one
of the strongest supporters—we have heard everybody saying it—
of Ukraine and we have moved forward. We, in fact, are even talk-
ing now of adding sanctions to those who are responsible for what
is happening to Vladimir Kara-Murza. We're adding things all the
time. We're still there and we should all be moving forward in that
direction.

As for the issue about whether the turbine is now moot, the issue
about whether the government should have done it when it did,
we're second- guessing everything. When people make decisions at
certain times—governments and people—they do it based on the
environment in which they are sitting at the time, or what is there,
what they see and the choices they have to make. This is exactly
what the government did then.

Whether or not our report will tell us, as we heard, that it may be
time to move forward, to move on, not to continue with going
around with Gazprom, is another story, but that will have to wait
for us to table a report and to table recommendations. Jumping the
gun, second-guessing this committee, making this committee seem
as if its work is not important after all the time we spent listening to
witnesses would be exactly that: wasted time.

® (1720

I know that Rob talked about disrespect. I think that's disrespect-
ful of all of us in the room. We're all here on the committee. I think
we all care about the issues. I understand the intent behind the mo-
tion, but I think that it's too soon for that kind of motion to come
forward.

I think, as Mr. Zuberi said, this should actually be a recommen-
dation. As we discuss it and we discuss a report, we can deal with it
that way. If we continue to subvert the committee process for all
parties, coming up with how the processes work, what we do, what
a report is, how we have recommendations on a report, then why
bother to have committees at all? Why bother to waste the time of
witnesses and the time of this committee to actually listen to those
witnesses?

We have moved forward since this committee began this study.
Lots of things have happened. We've heard from a lot of people. 1
think we know very clearly that while Europe is in immediate need
of energy right now, they have energy for the next year. The big
question, then, is what do our Canadian natural resources and Cana-
dian trade do about that?

We've heard about that. We heard about what our Deputy Prime
Minister had to say. We have a report to table and we have recom-
mendations on that report to move forward. To subvert this process
by throwing in some motion at the end of the day—and, I might
add, by taking away the ability to ask a question from the last ques-
tioner, who would have been a Liberal—is disrespectful.
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It's clever. It's a clever ploy. We all know that we do that. Every-
body says, “I know when I'm going to move my motion so I can
stop anybody else from asking questions.” Is that what we really
are about as a committee, or are we really, as a committee, looking
at finding good answers? In this instance, when we're talking about
an illegal war waged by a man who is bent on being sociopathic, or
whatever you want to say about him, that is what we should all be
focusing on. What do we do? How do we do it? How do we cut the
legs out from under Vladimir Putin and his war effort?

There are a lot of other countries that can supply immediate re-
sources to Europe. There's Kazakhstan, which is not siding with
Russia in this war. We have Norway. We have Scandinavian coun-
tries that have oil and gas. If what we're really thinking about is just
an opportunity for Canada to make hay and for Canada to go out
there and set up a new industry of fossil fuels and build infrastruc-
ture to do that, that's not what we're meant to be discussing. We're
meant to be discussing whether Europe can have energy to heat it-
self and to run its factories over this period of time, and how we
develop a long-term strategy through which Canada can take a part,
but that's not for us to discuss. That's for trade and natural resources
to discuss.

I think what we need to do is talk about whether we should con-
tinue with the turbine thing or, as many people have asked, is it
moot? I don't know. Let's have that report tell us what we should be
saying and what we should be doing.

We know that Germany is interested in Canadian energy. We
heard that at this committee, but Germany came and met with our
Minister of Natural Resources and talked about hydrogen. They
talked about low-fossil fuels. They talked about bringing down
greenhouse gas emissions.

® (1725)
Mr. Garnett Genuis: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

Hon. Hedy Fry: I'm sorry. I have the floor and I'm speaking.
Unless your point of order is that I do not have the right to speak—

The Chair: Dr. Fry, sorry; there's a point of order.
Hon. Hedy Fry: Fine; go ahead, but I'm not ceding the floor.
The Chair: One second.

Go ahead, Mr. Genuis.
Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

It's clear we're into a Liberal filibuster, which is their right to do.

I wanted to get the advice of the chair with respect to the proce-
dures around what happens at 5:30. I understand that we don't have
resources available after 5:30.

The rules of committee are also that you need the consent of the
committee to adjourn, so my understanding would be that if we
can't adjourn but we can't continue, then the appropriate thing to do
at 5:30 would be to suspend. That's been our practice in the past
when we've run out of resources but there isn't a consensus to ad-
journ. We would suspend.

I wanted to clarify that your intention would be to suspend at
5:30, unless there's a motion to adjourn. If there's a majority that
wishes to adjourn, so be it, but if not, I think we should suspend at
5:30, given the resource issue.

The Chair: As I understand it, we can adjourn, but allow me to
check.

Hon. Hedy Fry: I move to adjourn, Mr. Chair. It being 17:28, 1
move to adjourn.

The Chair: Sorry, Dr. Fry.

Yes, as I indicated, there is nothing to stop us from adjourning at
5:30, so that is obviously something we could do. We could also
suspend. Both those options are available, Mr. Genuis.

Hon. Hedy Fry: I moved a motion to adjourn, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Did you? Okay. I did not hear you. I'm sorry.

Hon. Hedy Fry: Yes. My voice is so calm and quiet that no one
hears me.

The Chair: This meeting stands adjourned—

Some hon. members: No. We have to vote on her motion.
The Chair: Did she bring a motion? I'm sorry.

We'll have a recorded division by the clerk, please.
(Motion agreed to: yeas 6; nays 5)

The Chair: Thank you.

The meeting stands adjourned.
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